A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. Appellant was denied a fair trial due to bailiff 

misconduct and the trial court's failure to inform counsel of ex parte 

contacts with the deliberating jury. 

2. Appellant was denied due process when the jury 

heard two officers' opinions as to his guilt. 

3. Appellant was denied his right to a fair trial due to the 

prosecutor's misconduct. 

4. Cumulative error resulted in a violation of appellant's 

right to a fair trial. 

Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error 

1. While the jury was deliberating, they wrote a question 

to the judge asking for clarification as to what specific act formed 

the basis of the assault charge, apparently not understanding the 

State's election in closing argument. The bailiff read the question 

and told the jury the judge would not answer their question and they 

should just look at the instructions they were given. The bailiff told 

the judge about the incident prior to the verdict being returned. The 

judge did not inform the parties. Did this violate appellant's right to 

an impartial jury verdict and a fair trial? 
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2. Appellant was charged with assaulting an officer. 

Prior to trial, the defense asked the trial court to prevent officers 

from referring to appellant's conduct as an "assault" because such 

testimony would constitute an improper opinion on guilt. The trial 

court granted the motion and ordered the prosecutor to instruct her 

witnesses accordingly. Two officers violated this order. Did the 

officers' testimony constitute improper opinions on guilt? 

3. Appellant was also charged with disarming a police 

officer by taking away the officer's Taser. The prosecutor stated in 

front of the jury that she believed the appellant had taken the 

officer's Taser. The prosecutor also framed her question to one of 

the officers in such a way that she vouched for the credibility of that 

officer. Finally, in her closing argument, she repeatedly used "we 

know" arguments to align the jury with her belief appellant was 

guilty. Was this reversible misconduct? 

4. Was appellant denied a fair trial due to cumulative 

trial errors? 

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

1. Procedural History 

On November 6, 2012, the King County prosecutor charged 

appellant Jason Benson with one count of disarming a law 
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enforcement officer. CP 1-5. The information was later amended 

and the prosecutor added one count of third degree assault. CP 

25-26. The jury convicted Benson as charged. CP 52-53. The 

court sentenced Benson to five months with work release and 

community service. RP 79-87. 

2. Substantive Facts 1 

On November 1, 2012, Benson was at the home of Drew 

Galas. RP 596. He called 911 requesting emergency aid for his 

son who was incapacitated due to excessive alcohol consumption. 

Benson was also drunk.2 RP 208, 601. The 911 call was 

mistakenly dispatched as a domestic violence incident. RP 226. 

Before an ambulance arrived, Deputies Scott Fitchett and 

Paul Mulligan showed up and entered the house. RP 600. Benson 

quickly informed the deputies he did not want the police there and 

only needed an ambulance. RP 600-01. There were varying 

stories as to what happened next. 

1 Facts specifically relevant to appellant's legal arguments are set forth in 
greater detail below. 

2 Benson was so intoxicated that after he had been arrested and placed in 
the police car, he was unable to distinguish between officers in uniform 
(who had entered the house and tased him) and those in plain clothes 
(who arrived after he was arrested). RP 198, 327, 571. 
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Mulligan and Fitchett testified Benson was immediately 

verbally combative. RP 232; RP457. They claimed Benson 

"shoulder checked" Mulligan as Benson walked down the hall to get 

his phone.3 RP 459. After retrieving his phone, Benson called 911 

and the dispatcher heard the entire incident. RP 233-35, 290, 459. 

According to Fitchett, he told Benson to put his hands up, but 

Benson refused to comply. RP 237. The deputies claimed Benson 

yelled, "I am going to fuck you up," so Fitchett pulled out his Taser, 

to which Benson reportedly screamed, "Tase me. Tase me. Tase 

me." RP 241, 292; 463. 

According to Mulligan and Fitchett, Fitchett Tased Benson 

after Benson charged at Fitchett; and when Benson got up, 

Mulligan also Tased him. RP 245, 247-48, 477, 480. Afterward, 

Mulligan and Benson reportedly began wrestling and Benson 

wrested Mulligan's Taser from him. RP 249-51, 480, 483, 532. 

During the tussle, Mulligan pushed his emergency button, 

requesting back up. RP 258. Eventually, Benson was taken to the 

ground; at this point, Mulligan grabbed Fitchett's Taser and 

executed two "drive stuns" into Benson until his muscles locked up. 

3 Mulligan conceded that both he and a very drunk Benson were in motion 
when the alleged shoulder bump took place. RP 513, 516. 
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RP 253, 486-87. Benson was placed in hand cuffs and arrested. 

RP 256, RP 491. 

In contrast to the deputies' accounts, civilian Drew Galas -

who was also present- testified that although Benson was verbally 

confrontational and not complying with orders, he never charged at 

the deputies and was always m.ost concerned about getting his son 

medical assistance. RP 601, 607, 627, 628, 632. Galas testified 

that Benson made no threats toward the deputies and never hit 

them. RP 615, 633. 

Galas testified it was the deputies who were truculent and 

inflamed matters, at one point calling Benson "retarded." RP 604. 

Instead of asking Galas if he could help deescalate the situation, 

the deputies pushed Galas out of the way and Tased Benson. RP 

605, 632. Galas never saw Benson take Mulligan's Taser away 

from him. RP 610. 

The State's case rested on establishing the credibility of the 

deputies and attempting to explain away Galas' account as biased 

or incomplete. RP 672-681. 

The defense theory of the case was that the deputies 

fabricated or exaggerated Benson's conduct in order to justify their 

improper use of force. RP 37-38, 556. To this end, the defense 
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established that Mulligan had previously been involved in an 

excessive use-of-force investigation fifteen years ago and the 

results had negative repercussions that seriously impacted his 

career. RP 538, 548. The defense also established that the deputy 

was particularly hostile and visibly angry during his interview when 

defense counsel questioned him regarding that investigation. RP 

638. 

Additionally, the defense established several inconsistencies 

between the deputies' reports and other evidence. RP 326, 346, 

414, 520, 537. During cross examination, Fitchett admitted that the 

911 tape did not record Benson saying "I am going to fuck you up" 

or ''Tase me. Tase me," which directly contradicted their written 

reports. RP 326, 346, 520. When cross examining the deputies 

with the Taser logs, the defense exposed that the logs showed 

more tasings than the deputies admitted in their accounts. RP 414, 

537. Defense counsel also established discrepancies between 

Mulligan and Fitchett's separate accounts. RP 407-10. 

Finally, after the State called Sergeant Rodney Chinnick to 

establish that the deputies' use of force was reasonable,4 defense 

4 Chinnick had been tasked with the first level of internal investigation into 
the incident. RP 363. 
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counsel exposed the fact that the Sergeant did not independently 

investigate or resolve the discrepancies between the deputies' 

accounts and the other evidence. RP 40, 410-416. 

C. ARGUMENT 

1. BENSON WAS DENIED HIS RIGHT TO A FAIR 
TRIAL WHEN THE BAILIFF IMPROPERLY 
RESPONDED TO A JURY QUESTION DURING 
DELIBERATIONS AND THE TRIAL COURT FAILED 
TO DISCLOSE THE EX PARTE CONTACT TO THE 
PARTIES. 

The bailiff improperly instructed the jury during deliberations, 

and the trial court failed to disclose the ex parte communication to 

the parties so that the bailiffs erroneous instructions could be 

remedied. This was a violation of RCW 4.44.300 and CrR 

6.15(f)(1 ), resulting in a denial of Benson's right to a fair trial and an 

impartial verdict. 

(i) Relevant Facts 

Prior to trial, defense counsel asked for a bill of particulars, 

asking the State to specify which act formed the basis of the 

assault charge. RP 10. In response, the State identified that it 

was the "shoulder check." RP 11-12. Defense counsel wanted the 

jury specifically instructed as to that election. RP 12. 
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After both sides had rested, it remained unclear as to which 

act the State was alleging to be the assault. RP 654-55. Defense 

counsel wanted the jury instructed that the assault charge was 

limited to the single act of shoulder checking. RP 652. It proposed 

WPIC 4.26. RP 652. The prosecutor said she would make sure 

the state's argument alerted the jury that the shoulder check was 

the basis for the assault charge. RP 653. However, she argued 

the jury instructions could not specifically state "shoulder check," 

"because that would constitute an improper comment on the 

evidence. RP 653-54. 

The jury was instructed that for the assault charge, the State 

was relying on a "single act," and the jury had to unanimously agree 

that "this specific act" was proved. CP 48 (Instruction 17). 

Although the instruction was correct, it did not specify the "shoulder 

check" was that single act. CP 48. 

During deliberations, the jury was confused about Instruction 

17 and could not determine which specific act formed the basis of 

the assault charge. CP 63-70. It wrote a question to the judge 

asking for clarification as to the charged act. CP 63-70. The bailiff 

took the note from the foreman, read it, and informed the jury the 

judge would not answer its question. CP 63-70. She told the jury 
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to read the instructions already given and get back to work. CP 63-

70. 

Sometime before the verdict, the bailiff informed the trial 

judge about this communication. RP 727. The trial court did not 

notify the parties about the bailiff's communications with the jury. 

CP56. 

It was not until after the verdict was returned that defense 

counsel learned of the communication. CP 56. He moved for a 

new trial, arguing that the criminal rule for handling jury questions 

had been violated and, consequently, Benson's right to a fair trial 

and unanimous verdict had been violated. CP 59-60; RP 728-732. 

The prosecutor argued the error was harmless. RP 734. The trial 

court denied Benson's motion for a new trial. RP 742-46. 

(ii) Legal Argument 

The United States and Washington Constitutions each 

guarantee a defendant the right to a fair and impartial jury trial. 

U.S. CONST. amend. VI.; WASH. CONST. art. I, §§ 3, 22. Neither 

a trial court nor a bailiff may communicate with the jury about a 

case in the absence of the defendant. 
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RCW 4.44.3005
; State v. Bourgeois, 133 Wn.2d 389, 407, 945 P 

.2d 1120 (1997). A trial court should promptly disclose any ex parte 

communication to the parties and determine if the communication 

requires a new trial. Bourgeois, 133 Wn.2d at 407 (quoting Rushen 

v. Spain, 464 U.S. 114, 119, 104 S.Ct. 453, 78 L.Ed.2d 267 

(1983)). 

An improper communication by the court or the bailiff 

violating RCW 4.44.300 is an error of constitutional magnitude. 

Bourgeois, 133 Wn.2d at 407. Once a defendant establishes such 

a communication took place, the State bears the burden of showing 

that the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. 

Johnson, 125 Wn. App. 443, 460-61, 105 P.3d 85, 93 (2005). If it 

cannot meet this burden, a new trial must be ordered. O'Brien v. 

City of Seattle, 52 Wn.2d 543, 540, 327 P.2d 433 (1958) (ordering 

5 This statute provides: 

During deliberations ... [the jury] must be kept together in a 
room provided for them, or some other convenient place 
under the charge of one or more officers, until they agree 
upon their verdict, or are discharged by the court. The 
officer shall, to the best of his or her ability, keep the jury 
separate from other persons. The officer shall not allow 
any communication to be made to them, nor make any 
himself or herself, unless by order of the court, except to 
ask them if they have agreed upon their verdict, and the 
officer shall not, before the verdict is rendered, 
communicate to any person the state of their deliberations 
or the verdict agreed on. 
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new trial where bailiff communicated with jurors in response to a 

jury question); State v. Moore, 38 Wn.2d 118, 127, 228 P.2d 137 

(1951) (ordering a new trial where bailiff gave factual information 

and said the judge wanted them to disregard writing on the 

pictures); State v. Christensen, 17 Wn. App. 922, 926, 567 P.2d 

654 ( 1977) (ordering a new trial where the bailiff's comments 

dissuaded the jurors from asking the judge to clarify an instruction). 

Here, the jurors were confused as to Instruction 17 and 

which specific act formed the basis of the assault charge. CP 63-

71. This was a critical question for determining guilt as to the 

assault charge. Understanding the importance of this, the foreman 

wrote a question that effectively inquired whether the jurors had to 

agree the shoulder check was an assault or whether they could 

convict based on other acts. ld. 
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Instead of taking the jury's question to the judge, however, 

the bailiff took matters into her own hands and wrongly informed 

the jury that this was not a question the judge would answer and to 

rely on the court's previous instructions. 6 ~ The bailiff's 

communication went far beyond innocuous statements that are 

permissible between the bailiff and the jury, constituting a clear 

violation of RCW 4.44.300. Christensen, 17 Wn. App. at 924. 

Additionally, the bailiff's action resulted in a violation of CrR 

6.15(f)(1 )_? Although that rule specifically directs the actions of the 

trial court, it also applies to the action of bailiffs. This is because 

6 Although the bailiff testified she told the jury that she would take its note 
to the judge and the foreman chose not to pursue it (RP 722), the jurors 
clearly heard the bailiff say the judge would not answer such a question 
and they had to figure it out on their own. CP 63-71. This Court must 
view the record from the perspective of what the jury heard as opposed to 
what the bailiff claims to have said. O'Brien, 52 Wn.2d at 548 (explaining 
courts must look not to what actually was said by the bailiff but to what 
the jurors heard when considering a bailiffs improper communications). 

7 That rule provides in relevant part: 

The jury shall be instructed that any question it wishes to 
ask the court about the instructions or evidence should be 
signed, dated and submitted in writing to the bailiff. The 
court shall notify the parties of the contents of the 
questions and provide them an opportunity to comment 
upon an appropriate response. Written questions from the 
jury, the court's response and any objections thereto shall 
be made a part of the record. The court shall respond to all 
questions from a deliberating jury in open court or in 
writing. Any additional instruction upon any point of law 
shall be given in writing. 
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when a judge delegates part of the judge's official duties to a bailiff, 

the bailiff becomes in effect the "alter ego" of the judge. Adkins v. 

Clark County, 105 Wn.2d 675, 678, 717 P.2d 275 (1986). The 

actions of the bailiff are the actions of the judge and the 

shortcomings of the bailiff are the shortcomings of the judge.8 King 

Cy. v. United Pacific Ins. Co., 72 Wn.2d 604, 612, 434 P.2d 554 

(1967). 

Here, the bailiff's answer to the jury question violated CrR 

6.15(f)( 1) in several ways. First, the parties were not notified about 

the question. Second, the parties were not given an opportunity to 

respond or object on the record. Third, the answer to the jury 

question was not given in open court or in writing. CP 61-70; RP 

722-25. 

But more troubling here is the fact that the bailiff informed 

the trial court of her action prior to the verdict (RP 727), and yet the 

trial court did nothing to remedy the situation. It did not inform the 

8 This record shows the bailiff was aware she was acting as a proxy for 
the judge when she directed the jurors to review the instructions. When 
testifying in the post-trial hearing, she said the question the jury was 
asking would have required the trial court to comment on factual details of 
the trial so she simply instructed the jurors to go back to their previous 
instructions. RP 725. Not only was this a violation of RCW 4.44.300, as 
shown below, but the bailiff's arm-chair analysis was incorrect. 

. . . 
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parties of the circumstances. It did not allow them any input in how 

to rectify the situation. 

Based on this record, the court's action (or inaction) -

independent of the bailiff's actions - violated CrR 6.15(f)(1 ). Once 

it knew of the bailiff's ex parte communications, it was the court's 

responsibility to disclose the communication to counsel. Johnson 

125 Wn. App. at 460-61. It was error not to do so. See, State v. 

Jasper, 158 Wn. App. 518, 541, 245 P.3d 228 (2010) (finding error 

under similar circumstances). 

A trial judge must respond to a bailiff's ex parte contacts as if 

they were his own. In Johnson, 125 Wn. App. at 452-54, the bailiff 

had ex parte contacts with two jurors. The bailiff reported these 

back to the trial court. kL The trial court did not inform the parties. 

kL Defense counsel moved for a new trial, but the same judge 

denied that motion. kL On appeal, Division II found the contacts 

were highly improper and had possible prejudicial impact. kL at 

460-61. It reversed the conviction and ordered a new trial in front 

of a different judge. kL The same result is required here. 

The trial errors established above cannot be dismissed as 

harmless. When considering whether ex parte contacts between 

the trial court and jury are prejudicial, reviewing courts do not 
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consider a juror's statement as to whether the communication 

influenced the jury. Instead, reviewing courts must consider what 

was said and examine the remarks for their possible prejudicial 

impact on the defendant's right to a fair trial. kl. Reversal is 

required unless the State can show there is no doubt the bailiff's 

remarks did not prejudice the deliberation process and the jury's 

verdict. Christensen, 17 Wn. App, at 926. 

Here, the prejudicial impact of the error was extremely high 

because the jury was uncertain as to what act constituted the 

assault. Thus, it could have convicted Benson of an uncharged 

crime or could have reached a verdict without being unanimous as 

to the specific act the State had elected. Either of these situations 

violates Benson's right to a fair trial. 

The State limited the basis for the assault charge to the 

alleged "shoulder check," and nothing more. RP 11. Thus, the 

charge was limited to that specific conduct and any other acts 

remained uncharged under Count II. With this limitation, it was 

incumbent upon the trial court to see that the State "elected" this 

act during closing and that the jury was properly instructed. It 

appears that the closing arguments and Instruction 17 might have 

accomplished this in the abstract. However, the jury's question 
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revealed that it was still confused about the scope of the assault 

charge. 9 

Once the trial court was aware of this confusion, it had a 

duty to insure the jury was instructed such that its conviction would 

be based only the charged act. See, State v. Laramie, 141 Wn. 

App. 332, 342, 169 P.3d 859 (2007) (holding the trial court must 

instruct the jury as per the actual charges); State v. Goebel, 36 Wn. 

2d 367, 368, 218 P.2d 300, 301 (1950) (holding due process 

requires a defendant must be tried for the offenses charged in the 

information). This could have, and should have, been 

accomplished by instructing the jury as to what was the specially 

elected act. 

Specifically, the trial court could have properly responded: 

"To convict the defendant of Assault in the Third Degree you must 

9 Perhaps this confusion existed because the State's election as to the 
specific act was made during argument and the jury was instructed that 
the law was contained in the court's instructions and it must disregard 
argument that was not supported by the law as set forth in the 
instructions. CP 30. Here, as the judge noted, the evidence made it 
unclear as to which act served as the basis for the assault charge. RP 
654. There is nothing in the instructions that informs the jury that the 
specific charged act was the "shoulder check." CP 27-49. If the only 
clarification as to the elected act came in the State's closing argument 
and was not specifically supported in the court's instructions, the jury 
would certainly be confused as to whether they were to disregard that 
election and decide on a specific act for themselves. 
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agree the specific act of a shoulder bump was proved." This 

essentially takes the last line in Instruction 17 and inserts the 

specific act. Alternatively, the trial court could have clarified: "For 

Count II, the State has elected to charge only the specific act of

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