FILED 10-22-15 Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington

NO. 73026-6-I

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION I

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

۷.

JASON BENSON,

Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY

THE HONORABLE LEROY MCCULLOUGH

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

> IAN ITH Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 477-9497

A. ISSUES PRESENTED

1. When a deliberating jury communicates a question to the trial court, it is error to fail to notify the parties; but the error is harmless if the court's response to the jury was neutral, such as referring the jury to the original instructions. On the other hand, trial judges violate the state constitution by commenting on the evidence and ultimate factual issues, even implicitly. During deliberations in Benson's trial for assaulting and disarming a sheriff's deputy, the jury handed the bailiff a question asking the judge to tell them which physical act was the assault. The bailiff told the jury to refer to the original instructions, but the court did not notify the parties. Was the error harmless?

2. Improper opinion testimony on guilt is not manifest constitutional error unless the witness statement is explicit or almost explicit on an ultimate issue of fact and is actually prejudicial. In Benson's trial, two police witnesses inadvertently used the word "assault," in violation of a pretrial order, to describe Benson's actions. In each instance, the court instructed the jury to disregard the term "assault." Did the trial court exercise proper discretion in denying a mistrial?

- 1 -

3. It is misconduct for a prosecutor to state a clear, unmistakable and prejudicial personal opinion as to the guilt of the defendant. If the defendant does not object at the time, he must show that no instruction would have cured the prejudice. In Benson's trial for disarming a sheriff's deputy, the prosecutor asked a sheriff's sergeant about the importance of maintaining control of a weapon. When Benson objected to relevance, the prosecutor told the judge that "the State believes he pulled the Taser" from the victim deputy. Benson did not object to that comment. Has Benson failed to show that the prosecutor's restatement of the charge was improper? If not, was it curable with a simple jury instruction to disregard the comment?

4. It is misconduct for a prosecutor to state a clear, unmistakable and prejudicial personal opinion vouching for a witness's credibility; but it is not vouching to ask direct-examination questions that reasonably anticipate defense attacks on a witness's credibility. In Benson's trial for assaulting and disarming a deputy — where the defense was based on accusing the deputy and his partner of colluding in perjury — the prosecutor prefaced a question to the deputy about collusion by saying, "I'm embarrassed to ask this, but" Benson objected to the form of the question; the

1510-21 Benson COA

- 2 -

prosecutor rephrased; and the deputy answered, without further objection, that he did not collude with his partner. Is Benson unable to show misconduct?

5. It is not misconduct for a prosecutor to use the phrase "we know" in closing argument when she is marshaling the evidence and the inferences from the evidence. The prosecutor in Benson's trial used the phrase "we know" on numerous occasions to summarize and draw conclusions from the evidence. Has Benson failed to show misconduct?

6. Several harmless errors sometimes can accumulate to require reversal, but Benson has the burden to show such harm. The only error in Benson's trial was the bailiff's harmless mishandling of the jury question. Has Benson failed to show cumulative error requiring reversal?

B. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE</u>

1. PROCEDURAL FACTS

Defendant Jason Benson was charged by First Amended Information with Disarming a Law Enforcement Officer and Assault in the Third Degree, alleging that on November 1, 2012, in King County, Washington, he knowingly and without consent removed a firearm or weapon from Paul Mulligan, a law enforcement officer, with intent to interfere with his duties; and intentionally assaulted Mulligan while Mulligan was performing his official duties. CP 25-26. In November 2014, a jury convicted Benson as charged. CP 52-53. The court sentenced Benson within the standard range to four months of work release and a month of community service. CP 82. Benson timely appealed. CP 88.

2. SUBSTANTIVE FACTS

On November 12, 2012, Jason Benson was staying with a family friend, Drew Galas, in Burien. 4RP 593¹. That night, Benson was drinking with his adult son, J.T., when J.T. became ill. 4RP 594-96. Benson called 911. 4RP 598. King County Sheriff's Deputies Scott Fitchett and Paul Mulligan were dispatched to the residence along with aid personnel. 2RP 226-27. The deputies had to make sure the scene was safe before aid could go in. 2RP 226. When the deputies arrived, Galas came outside to meet them. 3RP 454; 4RP 598. Benson opened the front door and cursed. 3RP 455.

¹ The verbatim reports of proceedings are sequentially numbered but divided into multiple volumes, which will be referred to in this brief as 1RP (Vol. 1, November 10, 2014); 2RP (Vol. 2, November 12, 13, 17, 18, 2014); 3RP (Vol. 3, November 19, 2014); 4RP (Vol. 4, November 20, 2014); and 5RP (Vol. 5, November 24, 2014 and January 16, 2015).

The deputies followed Galas into the home. 3RP 456. It was very dark inside, except for a light in the kitchen. <u>Id.</u> The officers saw Benson's son lying on the floor. 2RP 231; 4RP 456. Benson immediately confronted the deputies and asked, "Who the fuck are you?" 2RP 232. The deputies tried to explain their role, but Benson said, "I don't need the fucking police; I need an ambulance." <u>Id.</u> Benson seemed quite intoxicated. 4RP 513, 548.

Benson then walked directly toward the deputies, and hit Deputy Mulligan with a forearm or shoulder as he went past. 2RP 234; 3RP 459. The force was enough to knock the 6-foot-2, 210-pound Mulligan off balance. 4RP 472. Mulligan thought it was an aggressive act, but chose to "show some restraint" because he wanted to help Benson's son. 3RP 460. Benson was still yelling profanely at the deputies. 2RP 236.

The deputies began commanding Benson to calm down and to put his hands behind his back, but Benson picked up a phone and called 911. 2RP 235-39. The call recorded many of the sounds of the rest of the incident. 2RP 273-83; 4RP 500-11. At some point during Benson's rant, the deputies drew their Tasers and told Benson he would be "tased" if he didn't calm down.

1510-21 Benson COA

- 5 -

2RP 242. Benson replied by demanding that they tase him. 2RP 243.

On the phone with 911, Benson continued to curse at the officers; he threatened to take away a deputy's Taser; and he told the 911 operator he was "going to fucking whoop the shit out of them." 4RP 501, 504. Suddenly, Benson charged at Deputy Fitchett in a head-lowered "bull rush." 2RP 243; 4RP 477.

Fitchett kicked Benson. 2RP 244. Benson staggered backward momentarily, then continued his charge. 2RP 244-45. Fitchett shot his Taser at Benson. 2RP 245. Benson kneeled, snapped the Taser wires, and charged again. 2RP 245-46. Deputy Mulligan shot his Taser at Benson. 2RP 248. Benson again ripped away the wires and went at Mulligan. 2RP 249. Mulligan tried to shock Benson with the tip of his Taser, to no effect. 4RP 481. Benson forced Mulligan up against a wall and punched him. 2RP 249. Benson grabbed Mulligan's Taser and they struggled over it. 2RP 250; 4RP 482. Fitchett dropped his Taser and began punching Benson to get him off Mulligan. 2RP 251. Still, Benson wrenched Mulligan's Taser from his hand. 4RP 483.

As Mulligan and Fitchett continued to battle Benson, Mulligan picked up Fitchett's Taser and used it to drive Benson to

1510-21 Benson COA

- 6 -

the ground. 2RP 255. Fitchett wrested Mulligan's Taser out of Benson's hand. 2RP 253. The deputies handcuffed Benson, but he continued to fight, kick and curse. 2RP 256; 4RP 486-91. He told the deputies, "Fuck you, I'm going to kill you." 4RP 489.

During the fracas, Deputy Mulligan had activated an emergency button on his radio, and several other deputies, sergeants and detectives rushed to the scene. 2RP 189, 191, 258. After Benson was placed in a patrol car, he continued to yell at deputies, and seemed confused as to which of the deputies he had been fighting with. 2RP 196-97; 4RP 569. He said he had taken it easy on the deputies, but next time he would "fuck them up." 2RP 198.

C. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

1. THE BAILIFF'S HANDLING OF THE JURY QUESTION WAS HARMLESS.

Benson contends first that he did not receive a fair trial because the parties were not informed that the trial court's bailiff had replied to a question from the jury, which sought specific factual guidance, by telling the jurors to refer to the original jury instructions. The error was absolutely harmless because the bailiff gave a neutral response with no additional instruction. Benson's suggested responses would have been manifestly unconstitutional.

a. Additional Relevant Facts.

During deliberations, a juror handed the bailiff a written question pertaining to the assault charge. 5RP 722. The bailiff later recalled that the question sought direction to the specific incident that the assault was based on, and would have called on the judge to respond to "details of the trial." 5RP 522, 525. One of the jurors also asked, as the bailiff later recalled, "Which one is it? Is it the – did he punch? Is it from the punch or is it from some shoulder move or something of that sort?" 5RP 725. The bailiff replied that the judge "cannot answer that question," and she said, "Please refer to your jury instructions." Still, the bailiff offered to deliver the written question to the judge anyway. 5RP 722. The juror said "we'll just move on," and took the note back. 5RP 723.

The note apparently was lost, but after the trial, Benson obtained declarations from five jurors. CP 63-72. Those jurors recounted that the jury wanted the court to state what part of the incident was the assault. See CP 63 ("what part of the incident was the assault); CP 65 ("what part of the incident was an assault"); CP 68 ("something to the effect of if we could take another action besides the shoulder bump as the assault"); CP 69 ("identifying what was the assault ... what should be considered as the

- 8 -

assault"); CP 71 ("if the shoulder bump was the only thing we were to consider as assault").

The bailiff informed the judge of the question before the verdict, but the court did not notify the parties. 5RP 728. Benson's lawyer learned of the question while talking to jurors after the verdict. 5RP 730.

Benson moved for a new trial. 5RP 729-33; CP 55-60. The court denied the motion. 5RP 746. While the court rule requiring party notification and input was violated in "spirit at a minimum," the court found, the error was harmless because even if the parties had been notified, "the appropriate response would have been 'Refer to your instructions." 5RP 742-45. The court also noted that both parties had been clear in closing arguments that the assault charge was based on the so-called shoulder check. 5RP 745. See also 5RP 677-78 (State described "shoulder checking" and said "that's an assault."); 5RP 704 (Defense: "The State says that Mr. Benson is guilty of felony assault for bumping in with his shoulder to Deputy Mulligan").

1510-21 Benson COA

- 9 -

b. The Bailiff's Response And The Court's Failure To Notify Parties Was Harmless.

In a criminal proceeding, a new trial is necessary only when the defendant has been so prejudiced that nothing short of a new trial can insure that the defendant will be treated fairly. <u>State v.</u> <u>Bourgeois</u>, 133 Wn.2d 389, 406, 945 P.2d 1120 (1997). The granting or denial of a new trial is a matter primarily within the discretion of the trial court, and the decision will not be disturbed unless there is a clear abuse of discretion. <u>Id.</u> An abuse of discretion occurs only "when no reasonable judge would have reached the same conclusion." <u>Id.</u>

Court rules require the trial court to notify the parties of a jury question, allow the parties to comment on a response, make the question part of the record, and respond in open court or in writing. CrR 6.15(f)(1). Any communication between the court and the jury in the absence of the defendant or defense counsel is error. <u>State v. Jasper</u>, 158 Wn. App. 518, 541, 245 P.3d 228 (2010), <u>as amended on denial of reconsideration</u> (Dec. 1, 2010), <u>aff'd</u>, 174 Wn.2d 96, 271 P.3d 876 (2012). The bailiff is the "alter-ego" of the judge and is bound by the same constraints. <u>Bourgeois</u>, 133 Wn.2d at 407. Nevertheless, the defendant must show prejudice,

and the State may demonstrate that the error was harmless. Jasper, 158 Wn. App. at 541.

The trial court has the discretion to decide whether to give further instructions to the jury after deliberations have begun. <u>Id.</u> at 542. The trial court has no duty to provide a jury with additional instructions after they have begun deliberating. <u>State v. Campbell</u>, 163 Wn. App. 394, 402, 260 P.3d 235 (2011), <u>review granted</u>, <u>cause remanded on other grounds</u>, 175 Wn.2d 1021, 288 P.3d 1111 (2012). Where the given instructions accurately state the law, the trial court need not further instruct the jury. <u>Id.</u> That has "long been the law" in Washington. <u>Id.</u> (citing <u>Mott Iron Works v. Metro.</u> <u>Bank</u>, 90 Wash. 655, 658-60, 156 P. 864 (1916)).

In cases of improper ex parte jury communication, the error is harmless if the trial court's response "is negative in nature and conveys no affirmative information." <u>State v. Russell</u>, 25 Wn. App. 933, 948, 611 P.2d 1320 (1980) (telling jury ex parte that an instruction "meant exactly what was written" was harmless). Referring the jury to previous instructions is neutral and harmless, even if it does not answer the jury's question. <u>State v. Langdon</u>, 42 Wn. App. 715, 717-18, 713 P.2d 120 (1986) (jury asked for help

- 11 -

defining a word in the instructions; bailiff referred it to the instructions).

Moreover, the Washington State Constitution provides, "Judges shall not charge juries with respect to matters of fact, nor comment thereon, but shall declare the law." Const. art. IV, § 16. This provision prohibits a judge from conveying to the jury his or her personal attitudes toward the merits of the case or instructing a jury that matters of fact have been established as a matter of law. <u>State</u> <u>v. Besabe</u>, 166 Wn. App. 872, 880, 271 P.3d 387 (2012). The court's personal feelings on an element of the offense need not be expressly conveyed; it is sufficient if they are merely implied. <u>Id.</u> Thus, "any remark that has the potential effect of suggesting that the jury need not consider an element of an offense could qualify as judicial comment," and would be manifestly unconstitutional. <u>Id.</u> (citing <u>State v. Levy</u>, 156 Wn.2d 709, 721, 132 P.3d 1076 (2006)).

Here, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying Benson a new trial because the bailiff's erroneous ex parte communication with the jury was harmless. The court was not obligated to give any further instruction. The bailiff's response to the jury conveyed no additional information, and was no different than other cases where this Court has found trial-court responses

- 12 -

to be neutral and harmless. <u>See Besabe</u>, 166 Wn. App. at 882-83 (court's response, "Please follow all of the instructions, including instruction 30," was harmless); <u>State v. Allen</u>, 50 Wn. App. 412, 420, 749 P.2d 702 (1988) (court's response, "Read your instructions and continue with your deliberations," was harmless).

Even assuming that the court had sought Benson's input on a response, Benson could not have required the court to give an answer. <u>See Allen</u>, 50 Wn. App. at 420. And the only proper responses were either no response at all or to refer the jury to the instructions. That is because the jury asked the court to tell them specifically what "was the assault." CP 63, 65, 68, 69, 71. There was no way for the judge to answer that question affirmatively without declaring that there *was* an assault — essentially declaring Benson guilty. Obviously, that would have been manifest constitutional error.²

Benson offers two responses the court should have given: (1) "To convict the defendant of Assault in the Third Degree you

² After all, Benson also is contending that when a sheriff's deputy and a sergeant merely uttered the word "assault" in their testimony, it "constituted impermissible comments on guilt that prejudiced Benson's right to an impartial jury verdict" to a constitutional degree. Brief of Appellant at 27. Though the State disagrees with Benson on that point, certainly Benson cannot argue that a trial judge explicitly specifying "what was the assault" would not have been a much greater error.

must agree the specific act of a shoulder bump was proved"; or (2) "For Count II, the State has elected to charge only the specific act of shoulder checking." Brief of Appellant (BOA) at 16-17. Had the judge given either of these instructions, Benson would now be demanding reversal for it — and he would be right.

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